## S209125

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CAROLYN GREGORY,	)
Plaintiff and Appellant,	) B237645
V.	)
LORRAINE COTT, et al.,	) (Los Angeles County No. SC109507)
Defendants and Respondents.	)
	)

# APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY THE HONORABLE GERALD ROSENBERG, JUDGE PRESIDING

#### APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Alexander J. Petale (SBN 196632) Attorney at Law Pos Office Box 3993 Hollywood ,California 90078 (323)240-3894

Attorney for Appellant Carolyn Gregory

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAR 8 - 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	I.	STATE	EMENT OF FACTS	p.1	
	II.	PROCI	EDURAL HISTORY	p.2	
	III.	ISSUE	S PRESENTED	p.2	
	IV.	WHY	REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED	p.3	
	V.	LEGAL ARGUMENTS			
			THE MAJORITY'S RELIANCE ON THE CASE OF Her Estate of Marshall (1996) 45 Cal. App.4 <sup>th</sup> 1761 IS MIS AS THE FACTS IN THE SUBJECT CASE ARE DISTINGUISHABLE FROM HERRLE		
			RESPONDENTS' BERNARD COTT AND LORRAINE ARE LIABLE TO THE APPELLANT FOR NEGLIGENCE THE NATURE OF THE ACTIVITY INVOLVED IN THAT APPELLANT'S CLAIMS AND THE RELATIONSHIP OF PARTIES TO THAT ACTIVITY, DOES NOT COMPELE REASONABLY RESULT IN THE APPLICATION OF PASSUMPTION OF RISK AS A MATTER OF PUBLIC PROBLEM (1998) 8 CE [32 Cal. Rptr.2d 630])	CE, SINCE E OF THE L OR PRIMARY OLICY,	
			THE COURT'S RATIONAL IN THE MATTER OF <i>Priebe v. Nelson</i> (2006) 39 Cal.4 <sup>th</sup> 1112, 140 P.3d 848 IS APPLICABLE TO THE FACTS IN THIS CASE	) p.9	
			RESPONDENTS OWED A DUTY OF CARE TO THE APPELLANT	p.9	
VI.	CONC hits t	LUSIO he nail	N (The Dissenting Opinion of Judge Armstrong on the head.)	p.11	
VII.	CERT	IFICAT	E OF WORD COUNT	p.12	
EXHI	BIT A	(Opinio	n, Certified for Publication)		

#### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

## California Cases

Herrle v. Estate of Marshall (1996) 45 Cal. App.4 <sup>th</sup> 1761	p. 2, 5, 7
Parsons v. Crown Disposal (1997) 15 Cal. 4th 456	p. 3
Neighbarger v. Irwin Industries, Inc., (1998) 8 Cal.4 <sup>th</sup> 532 [32 Cal. Rptr.2d 630]	p. 8
Patterson v. Sacramento City Unified School District, 155 Cal. App. 4 <sup>th</sup> 821	p. 9, 10
Li v. Yellow Cab Co. (1974) 13 Cal.3d 804, 119 Cal. Rptr. 858	p. 9
Knight v. Jewett (1992) 3 Cal.4 <sup>th</sup> 296	p. 9
Priebe v. Nelson (2006) 39 Cal.4 <sup>th</sup> 1112, 140 P.3d 848)	p. 2, 4
<u>Stautes</u>	
Civil Code § 41	p. 9

#### I STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Appellant in this case, Ms. Carolyn Gregory, was working as an unlicensed care giver, to the one of the Respondents herein, Mrs. Lorraine Cott, who suffers from Alzheimer's disease. The Appellant Ms. Gregory cared for Mrs. Cott, within the confines of a single family home located in West Los Angeles. The Appellant's duties, along with caring for Mrs. Cott included, sweeping the floor, hand washing dishes and doing the laundry.

The Appellant Ms. Gregory's training; in the care of persons suffering from Alzheimer's disease, consisted of watching a video tape and visiting Alzheimer's patients in a care facility. The Appellant is unlicensed, and does not have any credentials as a nurse or certified nurse's aid.

The Appellant Ms. Gregory had worked in the Respondents single family home caring for the Respondent Mrs. Cott, and doing light housekeeping, for approximately two years prior to the occurrence of the incident giving rise to this appeal. The Appellant Ms. Gregory knew that Mrs. Cott had violent tendencies and had bumped, bruised or scratched the Appellant in the past.

It is undisputed that on September 4, 2008, the Appellant was in the Respondent's single family home, in the kitchen washing dishes in the sink, (CT p. 146). At the same time the Respondent, Mrs. Cott (who was suffering from Alzheimer's disease) was seated in a chair at the kitchen table. The Respondent approached the Appellant from behind, (CT p. 146-147), while the water was running. The Appellant Ms. Gregory could not hear the Respondent, Mrs. Cott approaching, due to the noise of the water running in the sink and she could not see Mrs. Cott approaching her (CT p.

146-147). Suddenly and without warning the Mrs. Cott pushed into the Appellant Ms. Gregory, and at the same time the Respondent tried to reach into the sink with her hand and grabbed at the sharp knife, which the Ms. Gregory was washing, (CT p. 147).

Because the Respondent Mrs. Cott, pushed into the Appellant Ms. Gregory and grabbed at the knife, the knife stabbed into Ms. Gregory's left wrist, severing vital nerves and tendons, which proximately and actually caused the Appellant to lose the use of her left thumb and two of her left fingers, (CT p. 147).

#### II PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The Appellant Ms. Gregory, filed her case, alleging causes of action for negligence and premises liability against the Respondents Bernard Cott and Lorraine Cott and also alleged a third cause of action for Battery against Mrs. Cott. After the depositions of the Appellant and the Respondent Bernard Cott were taken, the Respondents moved for Summary Judgment, which the trial court granted, relying on the case of *Herrle v. Estate of Marshall* (1996) 45 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> 1761. This appeal followed.

#### III ISSUES PRESENTED

The issues presented are as follows:

- 1) Was the Court's application of the doctrine of primary assumption of risk, to the facts of this case, an improper and unjust extension of the rule expressed in the case of *Herrle v. Estate of Marshal* (Supra).
- 2) Whether the Appellant's cause of action for battery should survive the application of primary assumption of risk, in light of the legislative intent expressed in Civil Code § 41 and the precedent found in the case of *Priebe v. Nelson* (2006) 39 Cal.4<sup>th</sup>

1112, 140 P. 3d 848.

#### IV WHY THE COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW

Judge Armstrong stated in his dissent, (attached hereto as Exhibit A, on page 9, at the top): "Expanding assumption of the risk to encompass intentional conduct untethers the doctrine from its origin (sic. original) moorings. Secondly, the policy rational for the firefighter's rule is simply not present in *Herrle*. "...[t]he firefighter's rule is based on the public policy that officers injured in the line of duty should be compensated through the public fisc rather than by individual tort recoveries. [Citations]" (*City of Oceanside v. Superior Court*, (supra, at p. 275).

As this Court has stated in *Parsons v. Crown Disposal Co* (1997) "Whether a given case falls within an exception to [the] general rule [concerning the duty of care], or whether a duty of care exists in a given circumstance, is a question of law to be determined on a case by case basis. [D]uty is not an immutable fact of nature "but only an expression of the sum total of those considerations of policy which lead the law to say that the particular plaintiff is entitled to protection." [Citations]" (id at p. 472).

In this case the Appellate Court failed to consider the legislative intent expressed in Civil Code § 41, which holds that the mentally infirm are responsible for the harm that they cause. The Appellant Ms. Gregory sued the Respondent Mrs. Cott for battery, an intentional tort. As Judge Armstrong pointed out in his dissent, the defense of primary assumption of risk originally did not apply to intentional torts. Furthermore, the defense depended on the plaintiff's actual knowledge of the specific danger involved.

Although the Appellant Ms. Gregory knew that when she confronted the Respondent Mrs. Cott, she could be bruised or scratched, as these things had

happened in the past, Ms. Gregory had no knowledge or expectation that Mrs. Cott would creep up behind Ms. Gregory, while the water was running in the kitchen sink, and push into the Appellant and reach into the sink, causing the Appellant to be seriously injured with a sharp knife.

This Court should be guided by its rational and decision, made in the case of *Priebe v. Nelson* (supra) wherein it was held that although the plaintiff's cause of action under the "dog bite" statute, would be precluded by the veterinarian's rule, she could nevertheless pursue on retrial, her common law claim for strict liability, since defendant Nelson had exposed the plaintiff to an unknown risk, which is not subject to the defense of primary assumption of risk.

Likewise herein, Mrs. Cott, by making a "sneak attack," upon Ms. Gregory, exposed Ms. Gregory to an unknown risk, which is not subject to the defense of primary assumption of risk.

Furthermore, in this case, the Respondent Mr. Cott, with knowledge that his wife Respondent, Mrs. Cott, posed a risk of harm to others, made the decision to leave Mrs. Cott, alone in the house with an unlicensed house keeper and personal care assistant, with no formal medical training. While the Appellant was occupied with housekeeping duties, she was battered by Mrs. Cott and suffered serious injuries. The Court should grant review to guard against improper and unfair applications of the defense Occupational Assumption of the Risk, in this case and in future cases.

///

///

///

#### V LEGAL ARGUMENTS

1. RESPONDENT'S RELIANCE ON THE CASE OF Herrle v.
Estate of Marshall (1996) 45 Cal. App.4<sup>th</sup> 1761 IS
MISPLACED, AS THE FACTS IN THE SUBJECT CASE ARE
DISTINGUISHABLE FROM HERRLE

The Respondents erroneously urge the Court, that: "The mere fact that in Herrle the incident occurred in a convalescent hospital, rather than in the patient's home is of absolutely no significance." Appellant disagrees.

What the Respondents are attempting to "cover up" or "gloss over," is the fact that at the time of the incident, the Appellant was alone in the kitchen of the house with the Respondent Lorraine Cott. (C.T. p. 146). Immediately prior to the incident, the Appellant was washing dishes and a sharp knife, in the kitchen sink, with the water running, and had last seen the Respondent Lorraine Cott, when she was seated at the kitchen table, (C.T. pp. 146). Due to the fact that the water was running in the sink, the Appellant could not hear the Respondent Lorraine Cott approaching from behind, (C.T. 146). The Respondent suddenly and without warning shoved into the Appellant and the Respondent also reached into the sink and grabbed at the knife that the Appellant was washing, (C.T. pp. 146-147). As the Appellant and the Respondent grappled for the knife, the knife cut into the Appellant's left wrist, severing nerves, a tendon and an artery, (C.T. p. 147).

The facts in this case are vastly different from what occurred in *Herrle*, as follows: In *Herrle*, the appellant Francine Herrle was a trained and certified nurse's aid, whereas the Appellant Ms. Gregory had no certification and received only informal training, consisting of watching a video and visiting a nursing home, (C.T. p. 146).

In *Herrle*, the appellant Francine Herrle, worked in a convalescent hospital with other trained professionals and certified nurses' aids. The convalescent hospital had many Alzheimer's patients, in separate rooms. In this case the Appellant was alone with the Respondent Mrs. Cott, in the small kitchen of a single family home, (C.T. p. 146) and the Appellant did not have any supervision or assistance from any other nurses, certified nurse's aids or other health care professionals.

In *Herrle*, the appellant Francine Herrle worked within the controlled environment of a convalescent hospital whereas in the subject case the Appellant Carolyn Gregory, spent most of her time in the small kitchen of the single family home of the Respondents' with the Respondent Mrs. Cott. In addition to caring for the Respondent Mrs. Cott, the Appellant's duties included washing dishes, doing laundry or sweeping the kitchen floor, (C.T. pp. 146 and 161). In fact, it was during the execution of her duties as a housekeeper, while washing dishes, the Respondent Mrs. Cott, "creeped up" behind the Appellant, shoved into her and reached into the sink to grab at the knife, which then slashed into and cut open the Appellant's left wrist.

In *Herrle* the appellant Francine Herrle saw that Mrs. Marshall, (the Alzheimer's patient who struck Ms. Herrle in the face) was being moved from a chair to a bed and Ms. Herrle thought that Mrs. Marshall might fall in the process. Ms. Herrle then went into Mrs. Marshall's room to help another nurse's aid move Mrs. Marshall from the chair to the bed. In the process, Mrs. Marshall struck Ms. Herrle several times in the face severely injuring her. Therefore, Ms. Herrle was injured while working in a professional care facility, while specifically engaged in the activity of caring for an Alzheimer's patient; whereas in this, the instant case, the Appellant was washing dishes

acting as a house keeper, with her back to the Respondent Mrs. Cott, when Mrs. Cott attacked the Appellant from behind. This is a significantly different set of facts, from the facts in the *Herrle*.

In the subject case, the Appellant Carolyn Gregory and the Respondent Mrs. Cott, were in the same room, i.e., the small kitchen area in the single family home, at the time the incident happened. As is clear from the facts in the case of *Herrle*, Francine Herrle, had to go into the separate room of the Alzheimer's patient Mrs. Marshall, to assist another registered nurse's aid, to perform her duties, in the moving of Mrs. Marshall from a chair to the bed. Whereas, in the subject case, Ms. Carolyn Gregory did not have the protection afforded by the professional nursing home environment, but had to share a common area, i.e., the small kitchen with the Alzheimer's patient Mrs. Cott.

Specifically because both Ms. Gregory and Mrs. Cott were in the same room, at the time when Ms. Gregory was washing dishes, Mrs. Cott was able to walk up behind Carolyn Gregory and cause the accident which resulted in the Appellant's serious injuries.

It is clear that the risk of this type of incident happening in a professional convalescent facility, is reduced significantly, by the segregation of the patients into separate rooms and by the presence of other health care professionals in the convalescent facility environment. In this case the Appellant Ms. Carolyn Gregory did not have any of the protections, provided to employees in professional convalescent care facilities, and did not have the assistance of other health care professionals with her to protect her from the type of "sneak attack," which caused he serious and debilitating injuries. Therefore, the facts presented by this case are distinguished from the facts in *Herrle v. Estate of Marshall* (1996) 45 Cal. App.4<sup>th</sup> 1761.

## 2. THE APPELLANT MS. GREGORY DID NOT ASSUME ALL OF THE FOREESEABLE RISKS OF HER EMPLOYMENT IN THE RESPONDENTS HOME

It seems an **unlikely argument** that "public policy" would compel the application of Primary Assumption of the Risk, to benefit the owners of a single family home, who made a conscious decision to bring into their home, the Appellant, to act as a care giver with light housekeeping duties; who then suffered serious injuries at the hands of one of the homeowners, while washing dishes, with her back turned to the Respondent Mrs. Cott!

In Neighbarger v. Irwin Industries, Inc., (1998) 8 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 532 [32 Cal. Rptr.2d 630] the Court of Appeal refused to extend the "Firefighters Rule," to preclude a safety engineer from recovering for burn injuries he received while fighting a fire.

"It is certainly not the case ... that private employees assume all the foreseeable risks of their employment. As we have explained above, Knight ... requires a closer analysis, focusing not on the foreseeability of the hazard or the plaintiff's subjective awareness of the risk, but on on the defendant's duty of care and the relationship of the parties." *Neighbarger* (supra) at p. 545 fn. 4.)

Herein the Appellant Ms. Gregory could not be found to have assumed a risk of being approached and literally attacked from behind, while she was washing dishes in the kitchen sink, which was a part of her job.

In the matter of *Priebe v. Nelson* (supra) this Court held that the defense of primary assumption of risk, would not operate to bar a cause of action pursuant to common law strict liability, based upon a risk that the plaintiff was not aware of. That logic should be applied to the facts of this case.

///

## RESPONDENT LORRAINE COTT MUST BE HELD LIABLE FOR BATTERY, FOR INTENTIONALLY PUSHING INTO THE APPELLANT AND REACHING INTO THE SINK TO GRAB AT THE KNIFE WHICH THE APPELLANT WAS WASHING

Civil Code § 41 provides as follows:

"A person of unsound mind, of whatever degree, is civilly liable for a wrong done by the person, but is not liable in exemplary damages unless at the time of the act the person was capable of knowing that the act was wrongful."

The Respondents argue that pursuant to the holding in the case of *Knight v*.

Jewett (1992) 3 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 296, the Appellant's cause of action for battery would not survive application of the doctrine of primary assumption of risk. The Appellant disagrees.

The facts in *Knight* involved participation in a football game. It is well known and understood that hard physical contact is an integral part of a game of football.

Therefore Appellant contends that *Knight* has little application herein, except to clarify the distinction between the doctrines of primary assumption of risk and secondary assumption of risk, which since the holding in the case of *Li v. Yellow Cab Co.* (1975) 13

Cal. 3d 804, 119 Cal. Rptr. 858 became synonymous with comparative fault.

### 4. RESPONDENTS OWED A DUTY OF CARE TO THE APPELLANT

When a defendant moves for summary judgment on the basis of primary assumption of risk, that defendant has the burden of establishing that he/she owed no legal duty to the plaintiff to prevent the harm of which the plaintiff complains.

Determining, whether to apply primary assumption of risk, to the facts of a particular case, is a legal question to be decided by the courts. (<u>Patterson v. Sacramento City Unified School District</u> (2007) 155 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> 821, 66 Cal. Rptr.3d 337).

///

"In cases involving primary assumption of risk – where, by virtue of the nature of the activity and the parties relationship to the activity, the defendant owes no legal duty to protect the plaintiff from the particular risk of harm that caused the injury the doctrine continues to operate as a complete bar to the plaintiff's recovery. In cases involving secondary assumption of risk, where the defendant does owe a duty of care to the plaintiff, but the plaintiff proceeds to encounter a known risk imposed by the defendant's breach of duty, the doctrine is merged into the comparative fault scheme, and the trier of fact, in apportioning the loss resulting from the injury, may consider the relative responsibility of the parties." Patterson v. Sacramento City Unified School District (2007) 155 Cal. App. 4th 821, 66 Cal. Rptr. 3d 337.

The relationship of the Appellant and the Respondents in this case was not within an independently operated care giving environment or facility. Mrs. Cott was not turned over in her entirety to a caregiver or facility for care giving. On the contrary, the relationship, was one of joint custody of Mrs. Cott, where responsibility for Mrs. Cott was shared between the Respondent Mr. Cott and the Appellant Ms. Gregory, (CT p. 119-120) as were the duties and inherent risks of the location, to wit inside a single family home, owned by the Respondents.

In particular the Respondents had the responsibility to insure that the location of that care was a proper and fitting location for the needs of the Respondent Mrs. Cott, based on her then current condition. It was not the Appellant's decision to keep Mrs. Cott at home. Consequently, any assumption of risk was limited to the particular decisions that the plaintiff was called upon to make, while caring for the defendant Mrs. Cott, in her own home.

In this context, the Appellant's acts are to be adjudged according the law of secondary assumption of risk, which since the holding in *Knight v. Jewett* (supra) is synonymous with comparative negligence. It was not the expertise or training of the

Appellant to decide the proper location for the care of the Respondent Mrs. Cott. The Respondent's choice of using their own home as a setting for the care of Mrs. Cott was the decision of the Respondents. Consequently there was a duty of reasonable care on the part of the Respondents as to the conditions they created; in their own home.

#### VI CONCLUSION

The dissent of Judge Armstrong attached hereto as Ex "A," hits the nail on the head. The Appellant Ms. Gregory had almost no specialized training, had no license or certification, was working alone within the confines of a single family home and had housekeeping duties which included, washing dishes, sweeping floors, and doing the laundry. The Appellant Ms. Gregory was not a health care professional and the Respondent Mrs. Cott was not the Appellant's patient.

Additionally, the Appellant was aware of only the risk of being scratched or bruised when she confronted Mrs. Cott, not when her back was turned to Mrs. Cott, while the Appellant was engaged in her housekeeping duties. Applying the defense of primary assumption of the risk, to the facts of this case, clearly "untethers the doctrine from its origin moorings."

Over extending the application, of the doctrine of primary assumption of the risk, to the facts of this case ignores the legislative intent expressed in Civil Code § 41, and applies the doctrine to intentional conduct. Such application may be proper in the context of the *Herrle* case, where a certified nurse's aid was working with other health care professionals in an institutional setting; but it has no application here, where a housekeeper, was set upon from behind by a mentally infirm homeowner.

///

This court should reverse the ruling and opinion of the Court of Appeal and remand this matter to the trial court for a jury trial on the merits.

Dated: March 7, 2013

LAW OFFICES OF ALEXANDER J. PETALE

By:

Alexander J. Petale, Esq., for Appellant

CAROLYN GREGORY

#### VII CERTIFICATE OF WORD COUNT

I Alexander J. Petale, Esq., certify that this Petition for Review was prepared on a computer using Microsoft Word, and that according to that program, this documents contains approximately 3,675 words.

Dated: March 7, 2013

LAW OFFICES OF ALEXANDER J. PETALE

Bv:

Alexander J. Petale, Esq., for Appellant

CAROLYN GREGORY

• ,	•

#### **CERTIFIED FOR PUBLICATION**

### IN THE COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

#### SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT

#### **DIVISION FIVE**

CAROLYN GREGORY,

B237645

Plaintiff and Appellant,

(Los Angeles County Super. Ct. No. SC109507)

v.

LORRAINE COTT et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

APPEAL from a judgment of the Superior Court of Los Angeles County, Gerald Rosenberg, Judge. Affirmed.

Alexander J. Petale for Plaintiff and Appellant.

Inglis, Ledbetter, Gower & Warriner, Richard S. Gower, Gregory J. Bramlage for Defendants and Respondents.

#### INTRODUCTION

Defendant Bernard Cott contracted with a home care agency to provide the services of an in-home caregiver to care for his wife, defendant Lorraine Cott, who suffered from Alzheimer's disease. Lorraine injured the caregiver, plaintiff Carolyn Gregory, who thereupon sued Lorraine for battery and Lorraine and Bernard for negligence and premises liability. We hold that defendants are entitled to summary judgment in their favor on the ground of primary assumption of risk.

#### BACKGROUND<sup>2</sup>

In 2005, Bernard contracted with a home care agency, CarenetLA, to provide inhome care at a single family home for his 85-year-old wife, Lorraine, who had suffered from Alzheimer's disease for at least nine years. Shortly thereafter, CarenetLA assigned plaintiff to defendants' home to provide the contracted caregiver services.

Plaintiff said that she had training in dealing with clients suffering from Alzheimer's disease and had provided services for Alzheimer's patients in the past. When plaintiff started working for defendants she was aware that Lorraine had Alzheimer's and knew that Alzheimer's patients could become violent. She understood that one of her duties in dealing with Alzheimer's patients was to provide "constant supervision for [the] protection [of] . . . patients, family members, [and] the caregiver." She had been injured by an Alzheimer's patient in the past. Lorraine could not carry on a coherent conversation, and Bernard informed plaintiff at the outset that Lorraine was combative and engaged in "biting, kicking, scratching, [and arm] flailing." As time went on and as Lorraine's disease progressed, she became "more combative physically." She

Because defendants share the same last name, we refer to each of them by their first name, or to both of them as defendants.

We set forth undisputed facts.

required more physical restraint during bathing for her protection. On occasions, plaintiff transported Lorraine to a center at which Lorraine was aggressive with other people and at one time struck somebody. Plaintiff alleged that Lorraine "had violent tendencies." From time to time, Lorraine injured plaintiff, but plaintiff never asked her employer to reassign her because, according to plaintiff, "[plaintiff] could handle the job."

In 2008, while plaintiff was washing dishes and had a knife in her hand, Lorraine made contact with plaintiff and reached for a knife that plaintiff was holding. As a result, plaintiff was cut on the wrist by the knife, suffering significant injuries. Plaintiff testified that although Lorraine's eyes were open, "she wasn't seeing me."

Plaintiff filed an action against Lorraine for battery, negligence, and premises liability and against Bernard for negligence and premises liability. Defendants moved for summary judgment, which motion the trial court granted.

#### **DISCUSSION**

#### A. Standard of Review

A trial court properly grants a motion for summary judgment if no issues of triable fact appear and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. (Code Civ. Proc., § 437c, subd. (c).) The moving party bears the burden of showing the trial court that the plaintiff has not established, and cannot reasonably expect to establish, the elements of a cause of action. We review the trial court's decision de novo. (State of California v. Allstate Ins. Co. (2009) 45 Cal.4th 1008, 1017-1018.) Whether the assumption of risk doctrine applies in a particular case is also a question of law that we decide de novo. (Nalwa v. Cedar Fair, L.P. (2012) 55 Cal.4th 1148, 1154 (Nalwa); Amezcua v. Los Angeles Harley-Davidson, Inc. (2011) 200 Cal.App.4th 217, 227.) Cases

We recognize that "[p]rimary assumption of the risk is an objective test. It does not depend on a particular plaintiff's subjective knowledge or appreciation of the potential for risk." (Saville v. Sierra College (2005) 133 Cal.App.4th 857, 866.) The facts bear on the nature of plaintiff's activity and the parties' relationship to it.

involving a primary assumption of risk defense generally are "amenable to resolution by summary judgment." (*Kahn v. Eastside Union High School Dist.* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 990, 1004, quoting from *Knight v. Jewett* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 296, 313 (*Knight*).)

#### B. Assumption of Risk

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