Supreme Court Case No. S209125

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CAROLYN GREGORY,

Plaintiff and Appellant

SUPREME COURT FILED

VS.

MAR 28 2013

LORRAINE COTT, et al.,

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Defendants and Respondents

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Case No. B237645

Los Ángeles County Superior Court Case No. SC 109507

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Richard S. Gower, Esq.
SBN 57145 (rgower@ilgwlaw.com)
Gregory J. Bramlage, Esq.
SBN 180534 (gbramlage@ilgwlaw.com)
INGLIS, LEDBETTER, GOWER &
WARRINER LLP
523 W. Sixth Street, Ste. 1134
Los Angeles, California 90014
Tel: (213) 627-6800

Fax: (213) 628-2857

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 7, 2010, plaintiff filed a complaint for damage for injuries related to an incident that allegedly occurred on September 4, 2008 while working at the Cotts' home as a caregiver for defendant Lorraine Cott, who was suffering from Alzheimer's disease. (CT 32-37) The complaint purported to state causes of action for general negligence and premises liability against both defendants and an additional cause of action for battery against defendant Lorraine Cott. (CT 32-37) In the general negligence cause of action plaintiff alleged that defendants knew that "the elderly occupant had violent tendencies" and that the defendants had breached their duty to warn plaintiff of the potential

harm arising from the violent conduct of the "elderly occupant." (CT 35) As for the premises liability cause of action, plaintiff alleged that defendants knew that the elderly occupant of their home presented a danger to plaintiff but failed to warn plaintiff of the risk of harm. (CT 36) Finally, as for the battery cause of action, plaintiff alleged that Mrs. Cott hit, struck, and cut her without her consent and without her permission to do so. (CT 37)

Plaintiff was trained to deal with Alzheimer's patients. (CT 41) When asked in deposition whether she was trained to deal with Alzheimer patients she responded: "Very much so." (CT 41) Plaintiff understood that Alzheimer's patients required "constant supervision for protection, both patient (sic), family members, [and] the caregiver." (CT 42) Plaintiff understood that one aspect of Alzheimer's disease is that Alzheimer's patients can become violent. (CT 42) Prior to providing care to Mrs. Cott, plaintiff had provided care to five other Alzheimer's patients. (CT 43-44) Two of the five previous Alzheimer's patients that plaintiff had cared for had become violent on multiple occasions. (CT 44) On several occasions, plaintiff required medical care for injuries she sustained while caring for Alzheimer's patients. (CT 44-45)

When plaintiff started providing care to Mrs. Cott she knew that Mrs.

Cott was suffering from Alzheimer's disease. (CT 27-28, 47) When plaintiff started caring for Mrs. Cott in approximately 2005, Mrs. Cott was unable to

carry on a coherent conversation with plaintiff. (CT 48) When plaintiff first began to care for Mrs. Cott she was told by Mr. Cott that his wife was becoming more combative, including biting, kicking, scratching and flaying. (CT 50-51) Plaintiff witnessed Mrs. Cott injure Mr. Cott. (CT 52) Mrs. Cott injured plaintiff approximately half a dozen times prior to September 4, 2008. (CT 53-54) Over time, plaintiff noticed that Mrs. Cott was becoming even more physically combative. (CT 49) Plaintiff never asked her employer to assign her to a different patient. (CT 55-56)

On or about the date of the alleged incident Mrs. Cott was almost totally incoherent; she could not connect her words and merely babbled when she attempted to speak. (CT 28) According to plaintiff, on the day of the incident Mrs. Cott was "delusional as usual." (CT 69-70, 78) Earlier on the day of the incident Mrs. Cott had been very combative with plaintiff and with others. (CT 57-58)

On September 4, 2008, plaintiff was injured while washing dishes at the Cotts' home. (CT 67-70, 75-76, 78) On that date, Mrs. Cott was 85 years old, was approximately 5 feet tall, weighed approximately 100 pounds, and could barely walk. (CT 27) While plaintiff was in the process of washing the dishes, Mrs. Cott's body made contact with plaintiff's right back and shoulder. (CT 59-60) At the moment of contact between plaintiff and Mrs. Cott, plaintiff had a

large carving or boning knife in her right hand. (CT 61) Upon contact the knife slipped from her right hand and the tip of the knife cut her left wrist. (CT 62-65)

THE COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION

The Court of Appeal relied primarily on the precedent established 16 years ago in the case of Herrle v. Estate of Marshall (1996) 45 Cal. App. 4th 1761, which established the rule that a caretaker of an Alzheimer's patient who is injured by that patient is barred from holding the patient liable for their injuries on the grounds that the caretaker assumed the risk of being injured. The plaintiff in *Herrle* was a nurse's aide employed by a convalescent hospital. She was injured when one of the patients struck her. (Herrle, supra, 45 Cal.App.4th 1763-1764.) The Court ultimately held that the primary assumption of risk doctrine barred the claim because "plaintiff, by the very nature of her profession, placed herself in a position where she assumed the duty to take care of patients who were potentially violent and to protect such patients from committing acts which might injure others. The danger of violence to the plaintiff was rooted in the "very occasion for [the plaintiff's] engagement." (Herrle, supra, 45 Cal.App.4th at p. 1766.) The Appellate Court cogently noted that Herrle was handed down in 1996 and that there had been no legislative action to change the law.

The Appellate Court correctly found that there was no meaningful distinction between taking care of an Alzheimer's patient in a convalescent hospital as opposed to taking care of an Alzheimer's patient in a private residence because the nature of the activity undertaken by plaintiff was the same in both situations, as was the risk inherent in that activity. The Appellate Court noted that in *Herrle* the court focused almost exclusively on the relationship, "rather than the geography." The Appellate Court agreed with the observation that a mentally disabled person should not be forced into an institution "' in order to be relieved of liability to a paid caregiver when athomecare is more appropriate under all of the circumstances.'" As the court recognized, any other ruling would provide the wrong incentive to confine mentally disabled patients when this may not be in their best interest.

REASONS TO DENY REVIEW

The petition for review should be denied because there are no grounds for a Supreme Court review and because the law and the facts support the Appellate Court's findings that the Cotts did not owe a duty to plaintiff.

I.

THERE ARE NO GROUNDS FOR SUPREME COURT REVIEW

The "issue" that plaintiff seeks to have this court review is not necessary to decide an important legal question or to secure uniformity of decisional law.

There is no important legal question to decide because the Appellate Court's decision was based on well-established law which has been the law since 1996. (See Herrle v. Estate of Marshall (1996) 45 Cal.App.4th 1761.) Further, plaintiff does not argue that the Appellate Court's decision is in conflict with any other Appellate Court decisions. Plaintiff relies exclusively on the dissent, which is hostile to the holding in Herrle altogether and which is based on a misapplication of the assumption of risk doctrine as established in Knight v. Jewett (1992) 3 Cal.4th 296. The dissent's hostility to the Herrle court's decision to adopt the assumption of risk analysis is not a basis for Supreme Court review. The important legal question as to whether or not to extend the occupational assumption of risk doctrine to healthcare workers was decided by Herrle and there have been no subsequent challenges to that decision.

II.

THE LAW AND THE FACTS SUPPORT THE APPELLATE COURT'S FINDING THAT THE COTTS DID NOT OWE A DUTY TO PLAINTIFF

As previously noted, the petition is based almost exclusively on the argument set forth in the dissent. It is clear from reading the dissent that Justice Armstrong does not approve of *Herrle* in its totality because it was an unwarranted extension of the assumption of risk doctrine. The dissent begins by referring to the assumption of risk doctrine as "long and tangled." While it

may be long, it is not tangled. Even the dissent notes that it is based on the "almost century-old, common law firefighter's rule." The dissent also correctly notes that the firefighter's rule has been extended to other public safety employees. However, the dissent takes issue with the extension of the firefighter's rule to caretakers for Alzheimer's patients as first enunciated in Herrle. The dissent notes that Herrle was a departure from the Knight v. Jewett holding. The dissent incorrectly notes that Knight only involved negligent conduct. That is not accurate. In Knight, the plaintiff brought an action for negligence as well as the intentional torts of assault and battery for injuries she sustained when the defendant knocked her over and stepped on her finger during an informal touch football game. (Knight, supra 3 Cal.4th 296, 300-301.) The dissent clearly disapproves of the holding in Herrle insofar as it included intentional conduct. The dissent also takes issue with Herrle on the grounds that the policy rationale for the firefighter's rule was not present in *Herrle*. Obviously, the dissent is not enamored of the Herrle holding despite the fact that it has gone unchallenged by any other court or by the legislature in the 16 years since it was handed down.

Plaintiff also argues, unconvincingly, that the cause of action for battery should survive the application of the primary assumption of risk doctrine because Civil Code section 41 establishes that a mentally incompetent person is

civilly liable for wrong done by that person. This same argument was made in *Herrle* and was summarily rejected as follows:

The short answer to this argument is that section 41 is intended to place the incompetent person in the same posture as a competent, not in a legally worse position. Where no duty exists in the first place, section 41 does not create one. Competent persons can avail themselves of the doctrine of primary assumption of risk. Likewise, the defense is available to the incompetent." (*Herrle, supra*, 45 Cal.App.4th at p. 1766.)

Here, plaintiff is making the same argument and it should be rejected for the same reason.

CONCLUSION

Respondents Lorraine Cott and Bernard Cott respectfully request that the Court deny review.